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N/A 

 
 

 
N/A 

 
Proceedings:  

 
IN CHAMBERS ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO 
DISMISS [33] AND DENYING PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION [8] 

 
I. Introduction  
 
 On December 10, 2018, Plaintiff Fair Education Santa Barbara, Inc. (“FESB”) filed the instant 
suit against Defendants Santa Barbara Unified School District (“SBUSD”) and Just Communities 
Central Coast, Inc. (“JCCC”). Dkt. 1. FESB asserts claims for: (1) intentional discrimination on the basis 
of race in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq. (against both Defendants); (2) intentional discrimination 
on the basis of race, ethnicity, religion, and sex in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (against both 
Defendants); (3) intentional discrimination on the basis of race, ethnicity, religion, and sex in violation 
of Cal. Gov’t Code § 11135 (against both Defendants); (4) intentional discrimination on the basis of 
race, ethnicity, religion, and sex in violation of California Education Code § 220 (against both 
Defendants); (5) violation of California Education Code § 60044 (against SBUSD only); and (6) 
violation of California Public Contract Code § 20111 (against both Defendants). Id. 
 
 Before the Court are two pending motions. On December 13, 2018, FESB filed a motion for a 
preliminary injunction. Dkt. 8. Then, on January 7, 2019, JCCC filed a motion to dismiss all of the 
claims asserted against it (i.e., Claims 1-4 and 6). Dkt. 33. 
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II. Factual Allegations 
 
 The factual allegations contained in FESB’s Complaint are as follows. FESB is a Section 
501(c)(3) organization formed to advocate for fair education policies in the Santa Barbara Unified 
School District. Dkt. 1 ¶ 11. It is a coalition of concerned parents of students in the Santa Barbara 
Unified School District, all of whom are residents and taxpayers within Santa Barbara County. Id. ¶ 12. 
Members of FESB include Santa Barbara Unified School District taxpayers and parents of current minor 
students in the SBUSD system that identify as Caucasian, Christian, and/or male. Id. 
 
 SBUSD is a public-school district located in Santa Barbara County. Id. ¶ 13. As a public 
educational institution and recipient of federal and state funds, SBUSD has a duty to enforce the United 
States Constitution and California Constitution by not enacting, imposing, operating, or maintaining 
policies, operations, or goals that discriminate against or grant preferential or detrimental treatment to 
any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, color, religion, ethnicity, or national origin. Id. 
 

JCCC is a Section 501(c)(3) organization that purports to work to ensure that Central Coast 
schools, organizations, and communities are places of opportunity, and to bring together community 
members and empower them to be leaders who promote equity around issues of race, socio-economic 
class, sexual orientation, and gender. Id. ¶ 15. 
 
 For the past several years, SBUSD has engaged JCCC to provide training and educational 
programs to SBUSD staff and students with respect to “diversity, inclusion, and equity.” Id. ¶ 17. 
JCCC’s programs consist of several workshops and training sessions provided to SBUSD staff and 
students throughout the year. Id. To date, SBUSD has paid JCCC over $1 million to provide JCCC’s 
programs to SBUSD staff and students. Id. ¶ 18. 
 
 While JCCC purports to provide “diversity, inclusion and equity” programs, its actual 
programming is a radical, exclusionary, and discriminatory curriculum that attempts to indoctrinate staff 
and students with a warped view of the world where racism can only be perpetrated by “white people” 
and where the success of students in so-called “privileged” groups is due solely to their “unearned 
access to resources.” Id. ¶ 19. JCCC’s materials assert, for example, that “Privileged Groups” include 
“Men,” “White People,” “Christian People,” and “Wealthy People,” and that “Target Groups” include 
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“Women,” “People of Color,” and “Working Class & Poor.” Id. ¶ 21. Or, to take another example: 
“Racism” is a “system of oppression based on race that privileges white people and targets people of 
color.” Id. Utilizing this ideological framework, JCCC physically separates participants into different 
racial groups, requiring all individuals that JCCC perceives to be “white” to be segregated in a separate 
room to receive instruction that differs from that given to all perceived “non-white” participants. Id. ¶ 
22. The “white” participants are instructed that all “white people” are racist and collude to promote or 
perpetuate racism against non-whites. Id. ¶ 23. Past participants in JCCC’s programs for SBUSD have 
reported that, if any dissent or argument is expressed concerning JCCC’s instruction, the dissenter is 
labeled as a racist. Id. ¶ 25. This has led to a situation where JCCC and SBUSD have effectively 
silenced any dissent to JCCC’s indoctrination. Id. 
 
 The purportedly successful results that JCCC and SBUSD tout about the program’s impact on 
the district’s students have not been properly or correctly analyzed or vetted. Id. ¶ 26. The program has 
had negative effects, such as creating a hostile educational environment for teachers and students that 
fall within a so-called “Privileged Group.” Id. ¶ 27. Furthermore, anti-white graffiti has appeared within 
SBUSD schools, anti-white racial epithets have been hurled at SBUSD teachers and students, and anti-
white slogans have recently defaced the Mission Santa Barbara. Id. 
 
 On September 11, 2018, SBUSD’s School Board considered entering into a four-year 
Memorandum of Understanding with JCCC for future programming at a cost of $1,737,910. Id. ¶ 28. At 
that September 11 meeting, the proposal was challenged by a group of concerned teachers and parents 
within SBUSD. Id. ¶ 29. This group expressed concerns regarding JCCC’s discriminatory programming, 
the failure of the proposal to adhere to district contracting standards, conflicts of interest between JCCC 
and the SBUSD School Board, and the failure of SBUSD to open the contract for public bidding. Id. As 
a result of this challenge, SBUSD did not approve the proposal at that meeting. Id. However, at an 
October 9, 2018 SBUSD School Board meeting, a revised, one-year contract with JCCC for a cost of 
$294,000 was proposed and approved. Id. ¶¶ 30-31. At the October 9 meeting, the group of concerned 
parents and teachers requested that the School Board publish JCCC’s materials on the School Board’s 
website; this request was denied. Id. ¶ 30. JCCC is scheduled to give its next instructional program to 
SBUSD on March 11-15, 2019. Id. ¶ 32. 
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III. Discussion 
 
 A. Lack of Standing (Claims 1-3) 
 
  i. Legal Standards 
 
   1. Standing, Generally 
 

The standing doctrine stems from Article III of the United States Constitution, which limits the 
judicial power of federal courts to “actual cases or controversies.” Spokeo, Inc. v. Robins, 136 S. Ct. 
1540, 1547 (2016) (quoting Raines v. Byrd, 521 U.S. 811, 818 (1997)). “The doctrine limits the category 
of litigants empowered to maintain a lawsuit in federal court to seek redress for a legal wrong.” Id. The 
“‘irreducible constitutional minimum’ of standing consists of three elements. The plaintiff must have (1) 
suffered an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of the defendant, and (3) 
that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decision.” Id. (citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 
504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992)). 
 

“To establish injury in fact, a plaintiff must show that he or she suffered ‘an invasion of a legally 
protected interest’ that is ‘concrete and particularized’ and ‘actual or imminent.’” Id. at 1548 (quoting 
Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560). “The party invoking federal jurisdiction bears the burden of establishing these 
elements.” Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. 
 
   2. Associational Standing 
 

In Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Advert. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333 (1977), the Supreme Court 
articulated the conditions in which an association has standing to sue on behalf of its members. It held: 
“an association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when: (a) its members would 
otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (b) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to the 
organization’s purpose; and (c) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the 
participation of individual members in the lawsuit.” Hunt, 432 U.S. at 343. 
 

With respect to the first element, “plaintiff-organizations [must . . .] make specific allegations 
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establishing that at least one identified member ha[s] suffered or w[ill] suffer harm.” Summers v. Earth 
Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 498 (2009). Thus, in Lujan, the Court “held that the organization lacked 
standing because it failed to ‘submit affidavits . . . showing, through specific facts . . . that one or more 
of [its] members would . . . be “directly” affected’ by the allegedly illegal activity.” Id. (quoting Lujan, 
504 U.S. at 563). 

 
This principle was also applied by the Ninth Circuit in W. Watersheds Project v. Kraayenbrink, 

632 F.3d 472 (9th Cir. 2011). The Ninth Circuit first reiterated the Summers rule, stating that an 
“organization asserting standing must provide specific allegations establishing that at least one identified 
member [has] suffered or would suffer harm.” Id. at 483 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). 
Based on that standard, the court concluded that the organization, Public Lands Council, had standing to 
pursue its appeal “on behalf of its members Charles Rex and Dallas Horton,” both of whom submitted 
declarations that demonstrated individualized injuries-in-fact. Id. at 483-84. Because “Public Lands 
Council’s members Charles Rex and Dallas Horton would have [had] standing to pursue th[e] appeal in 
their own right, their interests [were] germane to Public Lands Council’s purpose, and neither the claims 
asserted nor relief requested require[d] Charles Rex’s nor Dallas Horton’s participation as parties, Public 
Lands Council ha[d] associational standing . . . .” Id. at 484. 
 
  ii. Analysis 
 
 JCCC argues that Claims 1-3 suffer from a “fundamental pleading defect,” namely that FESB 
has not pleaded a concrete and particularized injury for any of its members’ children. Dkt. 39 at 2-3. In 
particular, the Complaint never identifies who FESB’s members are and how those members’ children 
have been personally denied equal treatment. 
 
 FESB contends that only one member of an organization need have individual standing in order 
for an organization to satisfy the first Hunt factor. Dkt. 36 at 7-8. This statement is accurate; as laid out 
above, associational standing offers a mechanism by which an organization can bring a lawsuit on behalf 
of at least one of its members. FESB is also correct that parents, as guardians, may sue on behalf of their 
minor children. Fed. R. Civ. P. 17(c)(1)(A). FESB’s essential contention, therefore, is that because the 
Complaint alleges that FESB comprises members who are parents of minor children, FESB has 
associational standing. 
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 Although FESB’s logical premises are correct, its conclusion is not. FESB fails to reconcile the 
general allegations of its Complaint with the specific requirement stated in Summers and later applied in 
Western Watersheds Project—namely that an organization asserting standing on behalf of its members 
must provide specific allegations establishing that at least one identified member has suffered or will 
suffer harm. Because FESB has not done so, it has failed to satisfy its burden of establishing 
associational standing.1 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1  FESB alternatively argues that it has “direct organizational standing to sue in its own right.” Dkt. 36 at 
12. Under this theory, FESB is alleging that the organization itself was harmed and suffered an injury-in-fact. 
This type of standing was found to exist in Havens Realty Corp. v. Coleman, 455 U.S. 363, 379 (1982), because 
the plaintiff alleged that the defendant’s “steering practices ha[d] perceptibly impaired [the plaintiff’s] ability to 
provide counseling and referral services for low- and moderate-income homeseekers.” Direct organizational 
standing was also found in a Ninth Circuit case that involved organizations that “were established to assist Central 
American refugee clients, most of whom [were] unable to understand English, in their efforts to obtain asylum . . . 
.” El Rescate Legal Servs., Inc. v. Exec. Office of Immigration Review, 959 F.2d 742, 748 (9th Cir. 1991). Because 
the organizations alleged that the government’s “policy frustrate[d] the[ organizations’] goals and require[d] the 
organizations to expend resources in representing clients they otherwise would spend in other ways,” the Ninth 
Circuit held that there was “enough to establish standing.” Id. 
 
 These cases demonstrate that it is not enough to simply articulate a “setback to [an] organization’s 
abstract societal interests.” Project Sentinel v. Evergreen Ridge Apartments, 40 F. Supp. 2d 1136, 1138 (N.D. Cal. 
1999). Rather, in order to establish direct organizational standing, an organization must allege “a concrete and 
demonstrable injury to its activities.” Id. (emphasis added). In other words, it “must demonstrate that the 
defendants’ allegedly unlawful conduct somehow affected [the organization]’s ability to operate, thereby giving 
rise to the need to divert funds to litigation.” Id. at 1141. 
 
 Given this framework, it is clear that FESB has not established direct organizational standing. FESB does 
not allege that, prior to the alleged facts giving rise to this lawsuit, it served some specific purpose from which, 
due to Defendants’ conduct, it needed to divert funds to litigation. 
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 B. Lack of Subject-Matter Jurisdiction (Claim 6) 
 

i. Legal Standard 
 

United States federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. Gunn v. Minton, 568 U.S. 251, 256 
(2013). The plaintiff always bears the burden of establishing that federal jurisdiction is proper. 
Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of America, 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994); Valdez v. United States, 837 
F. Supp. 1065, 1067 (E.D. Cal. 1993), aff’d 56 F.3d. 1177, 1179 (9th Cir. 1995). “A federal court is 
presumed to lack jurisdiction in a particular case unless the contrary affirmatively appears.” Stock West, 
Inc. v. Confederated Tribes, 873 F.2d 1221, 1225 (9th Cir. 1989). The proponent of subject-matter 
jurisdiction must establish its existence by a preponderance of the evidence. Leite v. Crane Co., 749 
F.3d 1117, 1121 (9th Cir. 2014). 
 
 In cases arising under federal law, Congress has vested federal courts with “supplemental” 
jurisdiction over certain claims, such as state-law claims, even though there would be no original 
jurisdiction over such claims. Under the relevant statute, federal courts have “supplemental jurisdiction 
over all other claims that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction that they 
form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution.” 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1367(a). Whether state-law claims form part of the same case or controversy as federal-law claims 
depends on whether all of the claims “derive from a common nucleus of operative fact” and are “such 
that a plaintiff would ordinarily be expected to try them all in one judicial proceeding.” Roper v. Poma, 
No. CV 07-316 CAS(Ex), 2010 WL 935358, at *1 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 11, 2010) (citing Carnegie-Mellon 
Univ. v. Cohill, 484 U.S. 343, 349 (1988)). Supplemental jurisdiction “is a doctrine of discretion, not of 
plaintiff’s right.” Roper, 2010 WL 935358, at *1 (citing City of Chicago v. Int’l Coll. of Surgeons, 522 
U.S. 156, 172 (1997)). In making the determination, federal courts should “consider and weigh in each 
case the values of judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity . . . .” Roper, 2010 WL 935358, 
at *1.  
 
  ii. Analysis 
 
 Claim 6 is a state-law claim for a violation of California Public Contract Code § 20111, which 
provides as follows: “The governing board of any school district, in accordance with any requirement 
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established by that governing board pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 2000, shall let any contracts 
involving an expenditure of more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for any of the following: (A) The 
purchase of equipment, materials, or supplies . . . . (B) Services, except construction services. (C) 
Repairs . . . .” Cal. Pub. Cont. Code § 20111(a)(1). 
 
 Because Claim 6 arises under state law, this Court has jurisdiction over it only if it falls within 
the Court’s supplemental jurisdiction. After carefully applying the relevant standard, it is clear that it 
does not. Whether FESB can prove this claim necessarily depends on whether it can establish three 
elements: (1) whether there is a contract between SBUSD and JCCC; (2) whether the contract involves 
an expenditure of more than $50,000; and (3) whether the contract involves any of the applicable 
categories (i.e., whether it is a contract for applicable purchases, services, or repairs). The relevant facts 
will likely all come from the SBUSD-JCCC contract itself, because that contract will determine the 
existence of the contract, the value of the contract, and the nature of the contract. Those facts are entirely 
different from those that would be necessary to prove the federal-law discrimination claims, which are 
based on the allegedly discriminatory content of JCCC’s program. In other words, whereas the federal-
law claims rely on the substance of the work performed on the contract, the state-law claims rely on the 
fact of the contract’s existence. Although both the federal- and state-law claims nominally involve the 
contract, the nature of that involvement is entirely distinct. 
 

The Court finds that FESB has not met its burden of establishing that the federal- and state-law 
claims derive from a common nucleus of operative fact. Thus, the Court lacks supplemental jurisdiction 
over Claim 6. 
 
 C. Claims 4 and 5 
 
 Because the Court is dismissing all of the claims over which it has original jurisdiction, the Court 
declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining claims—Claims 4 and 5—which do 
not arise under federal law. See Love v. Ayoub, 2016 WL 3671089, at *3-4 (C.D. Cal. June 30, 2016); 28 
U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3) (“The district courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a claim 
under subsection (a) if . . . the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original 
jurisdiction.”). 
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 D. Summary 
 
 Because FESB has failed to carry its burden of establishing that it has standing, the Court is 
dismissing Claims 1-3. Because Claim 6 does not fall within its supplemental jurisdiction (even 
assuming FESB can establish standing on the federal-law claims in a properly amended complaint), the 
Court is dismissing that claim with prejudice. Lastly, the Court is declining to exercise supplemental 
jurisdiction over Claims 4 and 5 at this stage because it has dismissed all of the claims over which it has 
original jurisdiction. 
 
 In light of these rulings, the Court need not consider the sufficiency of the allegations supporting 
Claim 4. However, if FESB files an amended complaint, it should carefully consider augmenting the 
allegations in the Complaint in order to survive a Twombly-Iqbal analysis on a possible future motion to 
dismiss.2 

 
E. FESB’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction 

 
 FESB’s motion for a preliminary injunction is based entirely on an alleged violation of 
California Public Contract Code § 20111. See Dkt. 8 at 9 (“The injunctive relief requested herein 
focuses on SBUSD’s failure to submit the JCCC Contract for public bidding as required by California 
Public Contract Code § 20111 and California Government Code § 53060. . . . [P]ursuant to Fair 
Education SB’s Sixth Claim for Relief, the JCCC Contract is void as a matter of law.”). Because the 
Court is dismissing Claim 6 for lack of jurisdiction, this motion is likewise dismissed.3 
 
IV. Conclusion 
 
 For the above reasons, the Court DISMISSES Claims 1-3 (without prejudice), Claims 4-5 

                                                 
2  For example, FESB could more specifically describe the alleged impact of Defendants’ conduct: what 
was the content of the graffiti, epithets, and slogans; when and where did they occur; and whom did they target? 
 
3  Were the Court to consider this motion on the merits, it would be difficult for FESB to prevail given that 
JCCC has provided the contested programming to SBUSD for several years. 
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(without prejudice), and Claim 6 (with prejudice). The Court also DENIES FESB’s motion for a 
preliminary injunction. The Court ORDERS FESB to file an amended complaint by April 8, 2019; 
otherwise, the Court will dismiss the action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(b). 
  
 IT IS SO ORDERED. 
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